
 

 

 

3 1 1  S  W A C K E R  D R I V E ,  S U I T E  1 4 0 0     C H I C A G O ,  I L  6 0 6 0 6  
 

T :  3 1 2 . 5 0 0 . 2 2 0 0     F :  3 1 2 . 6 6 7 . 8 9 6 1     W W W . E A R T H J U S T I C E . O R G  

 
April 23, 2021 
 
BY CERTIFIED MAIL 
 
Attn:   
Dennis Traiteur, Manager 
Christopher Belt, Superintendent 
Commonfields of Cahokia Public Water District 
2525 Mousette Lane 
East St. Louis, IL 62206 
 
RE: 60-Day Notice of Intent to Sue for Violations of the Clean Water Act 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 

On behalf of Centreville Citizens for Change, we hereby notify Commonfields of 
Cahokia Public Water District (“Commonfields”) that Centreville Citizens for Change intends to 
commence a civil action under Section 505 of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1365 for 
violations of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1251, et seq.  

For the past five years – and long before – Commonfields has been discharging raw 
sewage from its sanitary sewer system in the community of Centreville, Illinois into waters that 
flow into the Mississippi River and its tributaries. Specifically, Commonfields discharges 
wastewater and sewage from a ditch, manhole, and/or pipe on the block of North 82nd Street 
between North 80th Street and Bluff Street, a residential area. These discharges originate near a 
lift station that has a history of operations and maintenance issues, and they flow to Canal #1 
and Harding Ditch, tributaries to the Mississippi River. These discharges are all unpermitted, 
and they are violations of Section 301(a) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a).  

Members of Centreville Citizens for Change, a community organization made up of 
residents of the predominantly Black community of Centreville, have lived with this raw 
sewage problem for years, in addition to other sewage infrastructure problems and backups. 
Centreville Citizens for Change advocates for solutions to the sewage pollution, as well as 
chronic flooding problems, in the community. 

If Commonfields fails to remedy violations of the Clean Water Act and the root causes of 
the violations described herein within 60 days, Centreville Citizens for Change intends to file 
suit against Commonfields in the United States District Court for the Southern District of 
Illinois to secure appropriate relief for these violations. See 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1).  
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I. Factual Background 
 
A. Commonfields operates a poorly maintained municipal sanitary sewer system. 

Commonfields is a public water district1 that owns and operates a municipal sanitary 
sewer system in portions of Cahokia Heights, Centreville Township, and unincorporated St. 
Clair County. Prior to a recently approved merger, the municipality now known as Cahokia 
Heights was three separate municipalities—the City of Centreville, the Village of Alorton, and 
the Village of Cahokia.2  

Commonfields’ system contains more than 40 miles of gravity sewers ranging in size 
from 8 to 18 inches in diameter, more than 3,000 feet of force mains, more than 900 manholes, 
and 27 lift stations.3 Lift stations (also referred to as pump stations) are pumps that move 
wastewater from lower elevations to higher elevations in a sewer system when gravity would 
not otherwise move the flow.  

Commonfields’ system allows severe inflow and infiltration problems, meaning 
stormwater or groundwater routinely enters the system through manholes, broken pipes, or 
other means, overwhelming its capacity and causing overflows and other problems such as sink 
holes.4  

A report of the status of Commonfields’ 27 lift stations, obtained from a Freedom of 
Information Act request sent to the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (“Illinois 
EPA”), describes 13 stations with major functional problems.5 One such lift station is at North 
82nd Street and Bluff Avenue. The status report of lift stations identifies the North 82nd Street and 
Bluff Avenue lift station as one that “floods.”6 The station has a history of operations and 
maintenance issues, and it was operated manually until recently.7 When the U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency (“U.S. EPA”) inspected this station on January 26, 2021, the electrical panel 

 
1 See Public Water District Act, 70 ILL. COMP. STAT. 3705/1 et seq. 
2 See DeAsia Paige, Voters Approved the Creation of a New Town in Southwestern Illinois. Now What Happens?, 
BELLEVILLE NEWS-DEMOCRAT (Nov. 7, 2020), https://www.bnd.com/news/local/article247001947.html.  
3 See U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region 5, Commonfields of Cahokia – SSO Recon Inspection 
Trip Report at 1 (Jan. 26, 2021) (hereinafter “EPA January 2021 Inspection Report”), available at 
https://www.epa.gov/il/communities-east-st-louis-area-and-sanitary-sewer-overflows.  
4 See, e.g., Illinois Environmental Protection Agency, Violation Notice: Commonfields of Cahokia Sewer 
District, Violation Notice No. W-2020-50179, at Attachment A (Sept. 30, 2020) (attached as Ex. 1) 
(hereinafter “IEPA 2020 Violation Notice”) (identifying “severe inflow and infiltration” in Commonfields’ 
system). 
5 Pump Station Information, Commonfields of Cahokia Public Water District (attached as Ex. 2) 
(describing the status of 4 as “poor condition,” 1 as “abandoned,” and 8 as either “station floods” or 
“temporary submersible,” or both, meaning the station is using temporary submersible pumps). 
6 Id. 
7 EPA January 2021 Inspection Report at 3. 

https://www.bnd.com/news/local/article247001947.html
https://www.epa.gov/il/communities-east-st-louis-area-and-sanitary-sewer-overflows
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was uncovered, indicating poor maintenance.8 As a U.S. EPA inspection report noted, “there 
appears to be a general lack of maintenance in the system.”9 

Lift station failures, infiltration, and other system-wide infrastructure problems can lead 
to backups and sanitary sewer overflows (“SSOs”). SSOs involve the discharge of raw or 
inadequately treated sewage, and SSOs can contaminate waters, causing serious water quality 
problems, and back-up into homes, causing property damage, and threatening public health.10  

Sewage discharges in Commonfields’ system are frequent. In at least one recent nine-
month period of time, sewage backups occurred at multiple addresses within Commonfields’ 
service area in every single month.11 Toilet paper debris in ditches and surrounding manholes 
often marks where a discharge has occurred, including on North 82nd Street.12  

B. Sewage pollution threatens the environment, public health, and human 
dignity. 

Commonfields’ sewage system failures threaten the environment, public health, and the 
dignity of members of Centreville Citizens for Change. Commonfields’ unpermitted discharges 
of raw sewage contaminate waterways in Centreville, including tributaries to the Mississippi 
River called Canal #1 and Harding Ditch. SSOs contain pollutants such as oxygen depleting 
substances, microbial pathogens, and nutrients.13 Raw sewage is a source of fecal coliform 
pollution in waters.14 In fact, unsafe levels of fecal coliform have been detected in Harding 
Ditch,15 which has a designated use of primary contact recreation under the Clean Water Act, 16 
meaning that it is supposed to be clean enough for recreational activities such as swimming.  

 
8 Id. 
9 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region 5, February 24, 2021 and February 25, 2021 SSO 
Reconnaissance Inspection Report at 35 (March 22, 2021) (hereinafter “EPA February 2021 Inspection 
Report”), available at https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2021-
03/documents/iln000019_commonfields_of_cahokia_sso_reconinspection20210224-
20210225_inspreport_20210322.pdf.  
10 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Sanitary Sewer Overflows (SSOs) 
https://www.epa.gov/npdes/sanitary-sewer-overflows-ssos (last visited April 23, 2021).  
11 See Commonfields of Cahokia Public Water District Service Order List – by Due Date, Dates 5/16/2019 – 
2/19/2020 (attached as Ex. 3) (hereinafter “Commonfields 2019 – 2020 Service Order List”). 
12 See EPA February 2021 Inspection Report at 2, 6, 17, 18, 20. 
13 U.S. EPA, Report to Congress on Impacts and Control of Combined Sewer Overflows and Sanitary 
Sewer Overflows Fact Sheet at 4-2 (August 2004), available at 
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-10/documents/csossortc2004_full.pdf.  
14 See, e.g., U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Recreational Water Quality Criteria at 34 (2012), 
available at https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-10/documents/rwqc2012.pdf.  
15 Illinois Environmental Protection Agency, Cahokia Canal Watershed TMDL Report at 5-1 – 5-2 (August 
2009), available at https://www2.illinois.gov/epa/Documents/iepa/water-quality/watershed-
management/tmdls/reports/cahokia-canal/final-report.pdf. 
16 Id. at 4-2. 

https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2021-03/documents/iln000019_commonfields_of_cahokia_sso_reconinspection20210224-20210225_inspreport_20210322.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2021-03/documents/iln000019_commonfields_of_cahokia_sso_reconinspection20210224-20210225_inspreport_20210322.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2021-03/documents/iln000019_commonfields_of_cahokia_sso_reconinspection20210224-20210225_inspreport_20210322.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/npdes/sanitary-sewer-overflows-ssos
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-10/documents/csossortc2004_full.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-10/documents/rwqc2012.pdf
https://www2.illinois.gov/epa/Documents/iepa/water-quality/watershed-management/tmdls/reports/cahokia-canal/final-report.pdf
https://www2.illinois.gov/epa/Documents/iepa/water-quality/watershed-management/tmdls/reports/cahokia-canal/final-report.pdf
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The sewage system failures pose grave health risks to the residents of Centreville. Raw 
sewage includes many different kinds of pathogens, including bacteria (such as E. coli), viruses 
(such as Adenovirus and Enterovirus), and parasites (such as Giardia and parasitic worms like 
hookworm).17 In addition to potential exposures through aquatic recreation or contaminated 
drinking water, humans can be exposed to these pathogens through skin contact or inhalation 
of pathogens in wastewater in streets or lawns, with various resulting ailments and illnesses 
such as diarrhea, vomiting, pneumonia, and hepatitis.18 Moreover, the many mosquitoes 
attracted to the pools and ditches full of standing wastewater throughout Centreville can 
transmit pathogens that may cause a variety of diseases in humans.19 

Commonfields’ SSOs also damage members of Centreville Citizens for Change’s 
enjoyment of their homes. Because of Commonfields’ poor operation of the sewage system, 
sewage bubbles out of manholes, runs down neighborhood roadside ditches, and spreads 
throughout entire neighborhoods during frequent severe floods. Members of Centreville 
Citizens for Change have endured the smell of that raw sewage and have been unable to enjoy 
recreational activities such as gardening and entertaining friends or family in their yards. 

C. Centreville Citizens for Change advocates for an end to Commonfields’ 
sewage pollution. 

Centreville Citizens for Change advocates for solutions to the chronic flooding and 
sewage pollution in the part of Cahokia Heights formerly known as Centreville, where most of 
its members live. Centreville Citizens for Change is pursuing long-lasting, equitable reforms for 
the community that will allow residents to live free from raw sewage exposure and routine 
floods. 

Centreville Citizens for Change sends this notice only after repeated attempts to 
persuade local and state leaders to protect their community from Commonfields’ sewage 
pollution. For at least the past decade, residents also complained of the sewage pollution to 
authorities, including the Illinois EPA. On July 17, 2020, Centreville Citizens for Change 
submitted an “informal complaint” to the Illinois Pollution Control Board pursuant to 415 ILCS 

 
17 See, e.g., U.S. EPA, Report to Congress on Impacts and Control of Combined Sewer Overflows and 
Sanitary Sewer Overflows Fact Sheet at 6-2 – 6-4 (August 2004), available at 
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-10/documents/csossortc2004_full.pdf.  
18 Id. at 6-8 – 6-14; see also National Association of Local Boards of Health, Local Board of Health Guide to On-
Site Wastewater Treatment Systems at 10 (2006), 
https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/ehs/docs/onsite_wastewater_nalboh.pdf (last visited April 23, 2021). 
19 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Joint Statement on Mosquito Control in the United States 
(September 2012), https://www.epa.gov/mosquitocontrol/joint-statement-mosquito-control-united-
states#diseases (hereinafter “Diseases Transmitted by Mosquitos”) (last visited April 23, 2021); Illinois 
Department of Public Health, Mosquitoes and Disease, https://www.dph.illinois.gov/topics-
services/environmental-health-protection/structural-pest-control/mosquitoes-disease (last visited April 
23, 2021). 

https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-10/documents/csossortc2004_full.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/ehs/docs/onsite_wastewater_nalboh.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/mosquitocontrol/joint-statement-mosquito-control-united-states#diseases
https://www.epa.gov/mosquitocontrol/joint-statement-mosquito-control-united-states#diseases
https://www.dph.illinois.gov/topics-services/environmental-health-protection/structural-pest-control/mosquitoes-disease
https://www.dph.illinois.gov/topics-services/environmental-health-protection/structural-pest-control/mosquitoes-disease
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5/30, requesting that Illinois EPA investigate Commonfields. Then, Centreville Citizens for 
Change shared their concerns and provided this informal complaint and documentation of 
Commonfields’ violations of state and federal law to the U.S. EPA on July 24, 2020, and to the 
Governor of Illinois on August 18, 2020. 

Although some agencies have started to investigate Commonfields, the violations of the 
Clean Water Act remain ongoing and no agency is diligently prosecuting a civil or criminal 
action in court to require compliance with the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(B). 

II. Legal Background 

The Clean Water Act prohibits all discharges of pollutants to waters of the United States 
absent a permit. 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a). Sewage and municipal waste are pollutants. Id. § 1362(6). 
The Act defines the term “discharge of pollutants” as any addition of any pollutant to navigable 
waters from any point source, id. § 1362(12), and the term “point source” includes “any 
discernible, confined and discrete conveyance, including but not limited to any pipe, ditch, 
channel, tunnel, conduit . . . from which pollutants are or may be discharged,” id. § 1362(14).20  

SSOs that reach waters of the United States are point source discharges and, like other 
point source discharges from municipal sanitary sewer systems, are prohibited unless 
authorized by a National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit under 
section 402 of the Act, id. §1342.21 

Section 505 of the Clean Water Act allows citizens to enforce the Act to ensure 
compliance with its provisions. Id. § 1365. In addition to attorneys’ fees and litigation costs, civil 
penalties up to $55,800 per day for each violation may be imposed. Id. § 1319(d); 40 C.F.R. § 19.4 
Table 1. 

III. Violations 

Commonfields has violated and is continuing to violate the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. 
§ 1311, by discharging sewage from its sewer system into waters of the United States without a 
permit. For more than a decade, Commonfields has discharged raw sewage from a ditch, pipe, 
and/or a manhole on the block of North 82nd Street between North 80th Street and Bluff Street 
into waters of the United States. Sewage is a pollutant, id. § 1362(6); ditches, pipes, and 
manholes are point sources, id. § 1362(14); and the discharges travel from a ditch in a residential 
area to Canal #1, then Harding Ditch, and ultimately the Mississippi River, all of which are 
waters of the United States, id. § 1362(7). The discharge is continuing and likely to continue. 

 
20 A point source “need not be the original source of the pollutant; it need only convey the pollutant to 
‘navigable waters.’” S. Fla. Water Mgmt. Dist. v. Miccosukee Tribe of Indians, 541 U.S. 95, 105 (2004); see also 
W. Va. Highlands Conservancy v. Huffman, 625 F.3d 159, 168 (4th Cir. 2010). 
21 Id.; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Sanitary Sewer Overflows (SSOs), 
https://www.epa.gov/npdes/sanitary-sewer-overflows-ssos (last visited April 23, 2021). 

https://www.epa.gov/npdes/sanitary-sewer-overflows-ssos
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Commonfields does not hold a NPDES permit authorizing discharges of sanitary sewage or 
combined sewer overflows under the Clean Water Act. 

North 82nd Street is in a residential neighborhood of the (former) City of Centreville. 
Commonfields’ discharges of large volumes of raw sewage flow through a ditch that runs along 
the front and west sides of a residence on North 82nd Street before continuing into Canal #1 near 
North 80th Street and then Harding Ditch.22 Recent testing for fecal coliform from the raw 
sewage ditch showed levels 97 times higher than Illinois’ water quality standard for fecal 
coliform.23 As depicted in Figures 1-3, below, the discharge is not a mere trickle, but a fast-
flowing stream of sewage that, at times, leaves a trail of toilet paper debris.24 The discharges at 
North 82nd Street are presently ongoing, and they will continue into the future unless the Clean 
Water Act violations are remedied.  

The violations of the Clean Water Act along North 82nd Street have occurred on a nearly 
daily basis for years.25 For example, a non-exclusive list of discharges documented within the 
last five years includes:  

Date of discharge Documentation of discharge 

July 18, 2016 A Commonfields work order noted a discharge from the 
manhole cover at North 82nd Street.26 

December 28, 2016 A Commonfields work order noted a discharge from the 
manhole cover at North 82nd Street.27 

June 19, 2017 A Commonfields work order noted a discharge from the 
manhole cover at North 82nd Street.28 

May 23, 2018 The East Side Health District noted a discharge from the 
manhole at North 82nd Street and, in an email, described 
it as “shooting water with surfactant.”29 

 
22 EPA January 2021 Inspection Report at 2; see also EPA February 2021 Inspection Report at 6-16 
(documenting the discharge flowing from 82nd Street to waters of the U.S. with a series of photographs). 
23 EPA February 2021 Inspection Report at Attachment A; 35 Ill. Adm. Code § 302.209. 
24 EPA February 2021 Inspection Report at 2, 6. 
25 See, e.g., EPA January 2021 Inspection Report at 1 (noting 7 specific discharges that occurred prior to the 
U.S. EPA’s January 26, 2021 inspection). 
26 EPA January 2021 Inspection Report at A-1. 
27 EPA January 2021 Inspection Report at A-2. 
28 EPA January 2021 Inspection Report at A-3. 
29 EPA January 2021 Inspection Report at A-4. 
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March 19, 2019 A researcher from Williams College photographed 
sewage discharging at North 82nd Street during dry 
weather conditions.  

June 26, 2019 Anna Sewell photographed sewage discharging at North 
82nd Street during dry weather conditions. (See 
photograph below.) 

August 23, 2019 An employee of Illinois American Water noted multiple 
sewage discharges to a ditch at North 82nd Street in an 
email to the Illinois EPA.30 

August 5, 2020 The Illinois EPA photographed sewage discharging 
from a cleanout31 on North 82nd Street,32 and the Illinois 
EPA documented this discharge in a Notice of Violation 
sent to Commonfields on September 30, 2020.33 

August 26, 2020 The Illinois EPA documented a sewage discharge from a 
cleanout at North 82nd Street in a Notice of Violation sent 
to Commonfields on September 30, 2020.34 

September 9, 2020 The Illinois EPA documented a sewage discharge from a 
cleanout at North 82nd Street in a Notice of Violation sent 
to Commonfields on September 30, 2020.35 

February 18, 2020 The news source St. Louis Post-Dispatch documented, 
by video, water “stream[ing] out” from a sewer on 
North 82nd Street.36 

 
30 Email from Ian Rischmiller, Illinois American Water, to James Blessman, Illinois EPA (August 23, 2019) 
(attached as Ex. 4). The email correspondence notes, “[t]here’s been a recurring problem in this area.”  
31 A cleanout is a vertical pipe from (underground) lateral sewers to the surface. 
32 EPA January 2021 Inspection Report at A-5, A-6. 
33 EPA January 2021 Inspection Report at A-9; see also IEPA 2020 Violation Notice, Attachment A at 1. 
34 EPA January 2021 Inspection Report at A-9; see also IEPA 2020 Violation Notice, Attachment A at 1. 
35 EPA January 2021 Inspection Report at A-9; see also IEPA 2020 Violation Notice, Attachment A at 1. 
36 Michele Munz & Christian Gooden, Wastewater Streaming Out of Broken Pipe, ST. LOUIS POST DISPATCH 
(February 18, 2020), https://www.stltoday.com/wastewater-streaming-out-of-broken-
pipe/video_22c828ec-085f-5718-b54a-4ae90f257477.html (noting, also, that the wastewater has been 
discharging from that site “for years despite complaints”). 

https://www.stltoday.com/wastewater-streaming-out-of-broken-pipe/video_22c828ec-085f-5718-b54a-4ae90f257477.html
https://www.stltoday.com/wastewater-streaming-out-of-broken-pipe/video_22c828ec-085f-5718-b54a-4ae90f257477.html
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February 20, 2020 The news source Fox 2 Now documented, including by 
video, water discharging from the cleanout at North 82nd 
Street.37 

January 25, 2021 A member of Centreville Citizens for Change observed a 
cleanout on North 82nd Street overflowing with raw 
sewage, and his observation was relayed to the Illinois 
EPA by email on January 26, 2021. 

January 26, 2021 Inspectors with the U.S. EPA observed raw sewage 
flowing from that point into the ditch that ultimately 
flows to the Mississippi River.38  

On the same day, a member of Centreville Citizens for 
Change videotaped the discharge. (See still photograph 
of video below.) 

February 24, 2021 Inspectors with the U.S. EPA observed wastewater 
discharging from the SSO location on North 82nd Street.39 

March 30, 2021 Nicole Nelson videotaped sewage discharging at North 
82nd Street. (See still photograph of video below.) 

 

  

 
37 Blair Ledet, Centreville Residents Bring Attention to Chronic Flooding and Sewer Issues, FOX2 NOW 
(February 20, 2020), https://fox2now.com/news/illinois/centreville-residents-bring-attention-to-chronic-
flooding-and-sewer-issues/.  
38 EPA January 2021 Inspection Report at 2. 
39 EPA February 2021 Inspection Report at 2. 

https://fox2now.com/news/illinois/centreville-residents-bring-attention-to-chronic-flooding-and-sewer-issues/
https://fox2now.com/news/illinois/centreville-residents-bring-attention-to-chronic-flooding-and-sewer-issues/
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Figures 1-3: Dry weather sanitary sewer overflow at North 82nd Street in Centreville, Illinois 
on June 26, 2019; January 26, 2021, and March 30, 2021, respectively, from left to right. 

 
Sewage discharges have been occurring at the North 82nd Street location for many years 

prior to the last five years, and Commonfields has known about the fountain of sewage since at 
least 2010. For example, on July 26, 2010, the Illinois EPA documented a complaint regarding 
the above-mentioned ongoing sewage overflow at North 82nd Street, which it described, at the 
time, as “occurring periodically over the past 2-3 years.”40 The Illinois EPA collected a water 
sample from the ditch between the two homes where this discharge flows, and the water 
sample notes indicate a “high flow rate.”41 The Illinois EPA also contacted Commonfields, 
which was aware of the discharge.42  

 
With the exception of four instances in 2013, Commonfields has failed to notify the 

Illinois EPA, the local health department, or the public of the discharge. Centreville Citizens for 
Change has reason to believe there may have been many other instances of violations; a 
Commonfields document obtained through the Illinois Freedom of Information Act states, 

 
40 Illinois Environmental Protection Agency, Water Pollution Control Local Complaints, at 1 (July 26, 
2010) (attached as Ex. 5). 
41 Id. at 5. 
42 Id. at 1. 
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“[t]he District does not document all SSO’s,”43 in spite of the Illinois EPA’s SSO reporting 
requirements.44 

 
Despite the lack of reporting by Commonfields, as Centreville Citizens for Change—

whose members live in the community and see and experience the effects of the discharge—
knows, a large volume of sewage has flowed from the pipe and ditch on North 82nd Street on a 
nearly continuous basis for years. In fact, Centreville Citizens for Change is only aware of the 
discharge ceasing on a couple of occasions—and each time, the discharge has resumed soon 
after. For example, in January 2021, Commonfields replaced a collapsed sewer on the stretch of 
North 82nd Street between the cleanout on North 82nd Street and the lift station at the North 82nd 

Street and Bluff Street intersection. 45 The planned repairs were completed as of January 22, 
2021, with the exception of street restoration. At that time, the discharge had stopped. During a 
meeting with the Illinois EPA on January 25, 2021, the Illinois EPA represented to Centreville 
Citizens for Change that the recent repair work Commonfields had done on North 82nd Street 
should be a permanent fix to that sewage discharge. That same day, however, a member of 
Centreville Citizens for Change observed the cleanout on North 82nd Street overflowing with 
raw sewage, and the information was relayed to the Illinois EPA by email on January 26, 2021. 
On January 26, 2021 a member of Centreville Citizens for Change both, separately, videotaped 
wastewater and sewage discharging from that location (see table and still photograph of video 
above). On the same day, the U.S. EPA also observed and photographed the discharge (see table 
above). The discharge has continued to flow since then, occasionally stopping for no more than 
four days at a time, and then resuming, as documented in February and March (see table and 
still photograph of video above). Until Commonfields’ system-wide infrastructure problems are 
fixed, this discharge will continue.  
  

 
43 Commonfields of Cahokia Service Order List (attached as Ex. 6). 
44 Email from Joe Stitely, Agricultural Engineer for Illinois Environmental Protection Agency, to Jim 
Miles, Field Operations Section Manager for IEPA Division of Water Pollution Control (Jan. 28, 2020) 
(attached as Ex. 7); see also Illinois Environmental Protection Agency, Sanitary Sewer Overflow or Bypass 
Notification Summary Report Form, available at https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2021-
03/documents/iln000019_308_app_d_sso_report_form.pdf (requiring notification of SSOs within 24 hours 
and a written report within five days). 
45 Email from Sanjay Sofat, Chief, Bureau of Water for Illinois Environmental Protection Agency, to Anna 
Sewell, Earthjustice (January 22, 2021); see also Letter from Dennis Traiteur, Manager, Commonfields of 
Cahokia Public Water District, to Cathy Siders, Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (November 16, 
2020) (attached to IEPA 2020 Violation Notice).  

https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2021-03/documents/iln000019_308_app_d_sso_report_form.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2021-03/documents/iln000019_308_app_d_sso_report_form.pdf
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IV. Identity and Address of Party Giving Notice 

The party giving notice is as follows: 

Centreville Citizens for Change 
8429 Bluff Street 

             Centreville, Illinois 62203 
(618) 207-2064 

Centreville Citizens for Change is represented by the legal counsel identified below: 

Earthjustice 
 
Debbie Musiker Chizewer  
(773) 484-3077 
dchizewer@earthjustice.org 
Mary Rock 
(312) 800-8336 
mrock@earthjustice.org 
311 South Wacker Drive, Suite 1400 
Chicago, IL 60606 
 
Anna Sewell 
(202) 667-4500 
asewell@earthjustice.org 
1001 G Street, NW, Suite 1000 
Washington, DC 20001 
 

V. Conclusion 

This letter provides notice of Centreville Citizens for Change’s intent to file a federal 
enforcement action under the authority of the Clean Water Act’s citizen-suit provision, 33 
U.S.C. § 1365(a), to secure appropriate relief for these violations. Centreville Citizens for Change 
seek an end to the sewage pollution that plagues their homes, health, and the waters 
surrounding their community by securing long-term compliance with applicable law. 

This notice letter is based on publicly available information, information obtained 
through requests made pursuant to the Illinois Freedom of Information Act, 5 ILCS 140, and the 
observations and experiences of members of Centreville Citizens for Change. This letter 
addresses publicly identifiable violations occurring within five years immediately preceding the 
date of this notice letter. Additional information, including information in Commonfields’ 
possession, may reveal additional violations.  

If you have any questions concerning this letter or the described violations, please 
contact the undersigned counsel. 
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Sincerely, 
 
Debbie Musiker Chizewer  
dchizewer@earthjustice.org  
(773) 484-3077 
Mary Rock 
mrock@earthjustice.org  
(312) 800-8336 
311 South Wacker Drive, Suite 1400 
Chicago, IL 60606 
 
Anna Sewell 
asewell@earthjustice.org  
(202) 667-4500 
1001 G Street, NW, Suite 1000 
Washington, DC 20001 
 
Legal Counsel for: 
 
Centreville Citizens for Change 
(618) 207-2064 
8429 Bluff Street 
Centreville, Illinois 62203 
 

CC: 
 
Michael Regan, Administrator 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
Mail Code 1101A 
1200 Pennsylvania Ave. N.W. 
Washington, DC 20460 
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